

EDITING MARKS

mark	meaning
—	delete
≡	capitalize
Ⓢ	spell out
#	insert space
⌋	close up space
¶	new paragraph
/	lower case
∧	insert comma
⊙	insert period
~	italicize
∩	insert apostrophe

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Motivation

The impact of climate change on natural and human systems ~~brought about~~^{caused} by elevated Greenhouse Gas (GHG) concentrations is increasingly apparent ~~such as~~^{by} increases in global average surface temperatures, sea levels, and larger climate extremes [1]. Energy use and production contribute to two-thirds of the total GHG emissions [1]. Furthermore, as the human population increases and previously underdeveloped nations rapidly urbanize, global energy demand is forecasted to increase. Energy generation technology selection profoundly impacts climate change ~~via growing energy demand~~^{because}. Large scale deployment of emissions-free nuclear power plants could significantly reduce GHG production [1]. ~~However, large scale nuclear power deployment~~^{but} faces challenges of cost and safety [2]. The nuclear power industry must overcome these challenges to ensure continued global use and expansion of nuclear energy technology to provide low-carbon electricity worldwide ~~to battle climate change~~^{and}. To enhance the role of nuclear energy in our global energy ecosystem, the Generation IV International Forum was created to lead and plan the research and development ~~roadmap~~^{an innovative fourth generation of} to support a new generation IV of innovative nuclear energy systems [3]. Generation IV nuclear systems' goals are defined in four areas: sustainability, economics, safety and reliability, proliferation resistance and physical protection [3]. Table 1.1 summarizes the goals in each area.

An evaluation and selection methodology ~~was developed~~^{passive voice: who developed the methodology?} based on the goals, culminating in selecting six Generation IV systems: Gas-Cooled Fast Reactor System (GFR), Lead-Cooled Fast Reactor (LFR), Molten Salt Reactor (MSR), Sodium-Cooled Fast Reactor (SFR), Supercritical-Water-Cooled Reactor System (SCWR), and Very-High-Temperature Reactor System (VHTR) [3]. ~~The reactor systems of interest in this proposed work~~^{will consider} are the MSR and VHTR systems. The

this is a little vague, are you referring to severe weather events?

continues to rise / only grows

either indent or add another blank line here!

Table 1.1: Goals of Generation IV Nuclear Systems [3, 4]

Area	Goals
Sustainability	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> - Have a positive impact on the environment through the displacement of polluting energy and transportation sources by nuclear electricity generation and nuclear-produced hydrogen - Promote long-term availability of nuclear fuel - Minimize volume, lifetime, and toxicity of nuclear waste
Economics	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> - Have a life cycle and energy production cost advantage over other energy sources - Reduce economic risk to nuclear projects by developing plants using innovative fabrication and construction techniques
Safety and Reliability	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> - Increase the use of robust designs, inherent and transparent safety features that can be understood by non-experts - Enhance public confidence in the safety of nuclear energy
Proliferation Resistance and Physical Protection	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> - Provide continued effective proliferation resistance of nuclear energy systems through improved design features and other measures - Increase the robustness of new facilities

MSR system produces fission power in a circulating molten salt fuel mixture. It has a closed fuel cycle tailored to the efficient utilization of plutonium and minor actinides. Molten fluoride salts have very low vapor pressure, which reduces stress on the system. MSR systems also have inherent system safety due to fail-safe drainage, passive cooling, and a low inventory of volatile fission products in the fuel. The MSR system is top-ranked in sustainability because of its closed fuel cycle and excellent waste burn-down performance. It rates ~~good~~ ^{well} in safety and proliferation resistance and physical protection [↑] due to its inherent safety features, and rates neutral [↑] in economics because of its large number of subsystems [3]. The VHTR system has a once-through uranium cycle and is primarily aimed at high-temperature heat applications, such as hydrogen production. It is a graphite-moderated, helium-cooled reactor that uses Tristructural Isotropic (TRISO) fuel, which does not degrade at high burnup and temperature. The VHTR system is highly ranked in economics [↑] because of its high hydrogen production efficiency, safety and reliability, ^{high} because [↑] of the fuel and reactor's ~~inherent safety features~~ ^{and inherent safety features of}. It is rated ~~good~~ ^{rates well} in proliferation resistance and physical protection and neutral [↑] in sustainability because of its open fuel cycle [3].

In the proposed work, we will ~~be exploring~~ ^{explore} the Fluoride-Salt-Cooled High-Temperature Reactor (FHR) ~~reactor~~ concept, which is a combination of the best aspects of MSR and VHTR technologies. The FHR uses high-temperature coated-particle fuel (similar to the VHTR) and a low-

pressure liquid fluoride-salt coolant (similar to the MSR) [5, 6].

Does "additive manufacturing" need to be defined?

In recent years, additive manufacturing technology has advanced and altered the manufacturing and design of components [7]. The automotive and aircraft industry have successfully fabricated parts with key additive manufacturing technologies relevant to nuclear reactor core structures [8]. Successful examples of additive manufacturing applied in the aircraft industry are Boeing's use of additive manufacturing to reduce weight in the 787 Dreamliner [9] and SES-15 spacecraft [10]. Like the nuclear industry, the aerospace industry is highly regulated, thus successful additive manufacturing applications in the aerospace industry are promising for the nuclear industry. Using additive manufacturing to fabricate nuclear reactor components will drastically reduce cost, timelines, and increase safety and performance by tailoring local material properties and redesigning geometries for optimal load paths [7].

With further advancement of these additive manufacturing technologies, a reactor core could be 3D printed in the near future. Oak Ridge National Laboratory (ORNL) is leading this initiative through the 2019 Transformational Challenge Reactor (TCR) Demonstration Program.

The TCR program will leverage recent scientific achievements in advanced manufacturing, nuclear materials, machine learning, computational modeling and simulation to build a microreactor. The program targets to design, manufacture, and operate a demonstration reactor by 2023 [11]. Applying additive manufacturing to nuclear reactor design will enable complex reactor geometries that are not limited by previous manufacturing constraints, opening the door for a re-examination of nuclear reactor optimization [12]. Optimization efforts towards classically

manufactured nuclear reactors, and now 3D printed nuclear reactors, have focused on uniform shapes such as radius of the core, height of cylinder, enrichment of fuel, etc [12, 13, 14, 15]. Leveraging additive manufacturing technology enables us to surpass classical manufacturing constraints, such as straight fuel channels or homogenous fuel enrichment, and look forward to optimizing for arbitrary geometries and parameters such as non-uniform channel shapes, inhomogeneous fuel enrichment throughout the core, etc.

Multi-objective design problems inevitably require a trade-off between desirable attributes [16, 17]. There are many trade-offs in nuclear reactor design, one example is the trade-off between neutron economy and fuel enrichment. A reactor design must have sufficient neutron economy

Is this the same as additive manufacturing?

Does this have an industry specific definition? Quantities, maybe?

to ensure criticality but also have a low fuel enrichment to reduce proliferation risk. Conflict-
ing objectives means that there is no one perfect solution but a set of equally optimal solutions
[16]. Multi-objective problems are challenging to optimize; therefore, they cannot be handled by
classical optimization methods such as gradient methods because only the local optimum will be
found [18]. Evolutionary algorithms have proven successful methods to optimize multi-objective
problems [19] as they can find a solution near the global optimum [18]. They also take advantage
of parallel systems for reduced computational cost. The most popular evolutionary algorithms
used to solve multi-objective problems are genetic algorithms [16, 19]. Genetic algorithms imitate
natural selection to evolve solutions by (1) maintaining a population of solutions, (2) allowing fit-
ter solutions to reproduce, and (3) letting lesser fit solutions die off, resulting in final solutions
that are better than the previous generations [18]. We will pursue the evolutionary algorithm op-
timization technique in this work.

this could probably be cut very similar to following sentence

P

Therefore, in this work, we propose designing an optimization tool that uses the evolutionary al-
gorithm optimization technique with nuclear transport and thermal-hydraulics software. This
tool will be used to explore non-uniform FHR reactor core parameters, now possible with addi-
tive manufacturing technology, to optimize reactor systems fully.

1.2 Objectives

The proposed work's main objectives were developed based on leveraging open-source artificial
intelligence tools with validated open-source nuclear transport and thermal-hydraulics software
to create an open-source tool to generate optimal reactor designs quickly. Accordingly, the objec-
tives are listed below.

We developed

to which

FHR? acronym okay here since previously defined

Model Fluoride-Salt-Cooled High-Temperature Reactor with established nuclear
transport and thermal-hydraulics software. To demonstrate success in modeling the FHR
with nuclear transport and thermal-hydraulics software before using the optimization tool, we
will participate in the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) Nu-
clear Energy Agency (NEA)'s FHR benchmark [20].

Develop a tool that applies evolutionary algorithms to nuclear reactor design op-

timization. This tool will not ^{re-}invent the wheel; it will utilize a well-documented and validated open-source evolutionary algorithm python package with established nuclear transport and thermal-hydraulics software. This tool will run parallel on high-performance computing (HPC) machines. ~~This tool will~~ be open-source and follow the rules for ensuring reproducibility, effectiveness, and usability [21, 22, 23].

Demonstrate nuclear reactor design optimization with the optimization tool for a neutronics problem. We will demonstrate successful implementation of the optimization tool with the nuclear transport software by optimizing a simple FHR model for a single objective function.

Demonstrate hyperparameter tuning with the optimization tool for neutronics problem. Hyperparameter selection will ^{impact} the effectiveness of the algorithm for our problem. Therefore, we must ^{conduct} hyperparameter tuning to find hyperparameters that work best for our problem.

Demonstrate nuclear reactor design optimization and hyperparameter search with the optimization tool for a neutronics and thermal-hydraulics problem. We will demonstrate successful implementation of the optimization tool and hyperparameter tuning with the nuclear transport and thermal-hydraulics tools for a FHR model.

1.3 Outline

This document outlines the motivation, preliminary work, and future work proposed towards developing an open-source optimization tool that applies evolutionary algorithms to nuclear transport and thermal-hydraulics software to optimize nuclear reactor design. Chapter 1 describes the motivation and objectives of the proposed work. Chapter 2 will present a literature review that organizes and reports on previous relevant work. Chapter 3 will describe the FHR benchmark specifications and the results obtained thus far. Chapter 4 will detail the computational design of the REALM python package. Chapter 5 will demonstrate nuclear reactor optimization with REALM. Chapter 6 will summarize the remaining future work.

References

- [1] *Climate Change and Nuclear Power 2018*. Non-serial Publications. INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Vienna, 2018.
- [2] David Petti. The future of nuclear energy in a carbon-constrained world. *Massachusetts Institute of Technology Energy Initiative (MITEI)*, page 272, 2018.
- [3] GIF. A technology roadmap for generation IV nuclear energy systems. Technical Report GIF-002-00, US DOE Nuclear Energy Research Advisory Committee and the Generation IV International Forum, 2002.
- [4] C. Behar. Technology roadmap update for generation IV nuclear energy systems. In *OECD Nuclear Energy Agency for the Generation IV International Forum, accessed Jan*, volume 17, pages 2014–03, 2014. Issue: 2018.
- [5] C. W. Forsberg, K. A. Terrani, L. L. Snead, and Y. Katoh. Fluoride-Salt-Cooled High-Temperature Reactor (FHR) with Silicon-Carbide-Matrix Coated-Particle Fuel. In *Transactions of the American Nuclear Society*, volume 107, page 907, 2012.
- [6] M. I. T. Facilitators, UW Madison Facilitators, and UC Berkeley Facilitators. Fluoride-Salt-Cooled, High-Temperature Reactor (FHR) Development Roadmap and Test Reactor Performance Requirements White Paper. 2013.
- [7] Joseph Simpson, James Haley, Corson Cramer, Olivia Shafer, Amy Elliott, Bill Peter, Lonnie Love, and Ryan Dehoff. CONSIDERATIONS FOR APPLICATION OF ADDITIVE MANUFACTURING TO NUCLEAR REACTOR CORE COMPONENTS. page 43, May 2019.
- [8] Lawrence Murr. Frontiers of 3D Printing/Additive Manufacturing: from Human Organs to Aircraft Fabrication. *Journal of Materials Science & Technology*, 32(10):987–995, October 2016.
- [9] Printed titanium parts expected to save millions in Boeing Dreamliner costs. *Reuters*, April 2017.
- [10] Boeing: 3D printing done right.
- [11] K. A. Terrani. Transformational Challenge Reactor demonstration program. Technical report, 2019.
- [12] Vladimir Sobes, Briana Hiscox, Emilian Popov, Marco Delchini, Richard Archibald, Paul Laiu, Ben Betzler, and Kurt Terrani. ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE DESIGN OF NUCLEAR SYSTEMS EMPOWERED BY ADVANCED MANUFACTURING. page 8, 2020.

- [13] Wagner F. Sacco and Cludio MNA Pereira. Two stochastic optimization algorithms applied to nuclear reactor core design. *Progress in Nuclear Energy*, 48(6):525–539, 2006. ISBN: 0149-1970 Publisher: Elsevier.
- [14] Akansha Kumar and Pavel V. Tsvetkov. A new approach to nuclear reactor design optimization using genetic algorithms and regression analysis. *Annals of Nuclear Energy*, 85:27–35, November 2015.
- [15] Cludio MNA Pereira and Wagner F. Sacco. A parallel genetic algorithm with niching technique applied to a nuclear reactor core design optimization problem. *Progress in Nuclear Energy*, 50(7):740–746, 2008. ISBN: 0149-1970 Publisher: Elsevier.
- [16] Jonathan Byrne, Philip Cardiff, Anthony Brabazon, and Michael O'Neill. Evolving parametric aircraft models for design exploration and optimisation. *Neurocomputing*, 142:39–47, October 2014.
- [17] Herbert A. Simon. *The sciences of the artificial*. MIT press, 2019.
- [18] Gbor Renner and Anik Ekrt. Genetic algorithms in computer aided design. *Computer-aided design*, 35(8):709–726, 2003.
- [19] Sivam Krish. A practical generative design method. *Computer-Aided Design*, 43(1):88–100, January 2011.
- [20] Fluoride Salt-Cooled High-Temperature Reactor (FHR) Benchmark.
- [21] Markus List, Peter Ebert, and Felipe Albrecht. Ten Simple Rules for Developing Usable Software in Computational Biology. *PLOS Computational Biology*, 13(1):e1005265, January 2017.
- [22] James M. Osborne, Miguel O. Bernabeu, Maria Bruna, Ben Calderhead, Jonathan Cooper, Neil Dalchau, Sara-Jane Dunn, Alexander G. Fletcher, Robin Freeman, Derek Groen, Bernhard Knapp, Greg J. McInerny, Gary R. Mirams, Joe Pitt-Francis, Biswa Sengupta, David W. Wright, Christian A. Yates, David J. Gavaghan, Stephen Emmott, and Charlotte Deane. Ten Simple Rules for Effective Computational Research. *PLoS Computational Biology*, 10(3):e1003506, March 2014.
- [23] Geir Kjetil Sandve, Anton Nekrutenko, James Taylor, and Eivind Hovig. Ten Simple Rules for Reproducible Computational Research. *PLoS Computational Biology*, 9(10):e1003285, October 2013. 00018.